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"By 1840 Dodge County had a population of 67; two years
later it had reached 239. A rapid influx in the middle 40's
brought the count up to 7,787 in 1846,"1 GSettlers came from
the southeast portion of the state. From Lake Micﬁigan 50 miles
east settlers headed toward an area that would later become
Dodge County, named after the first governor of Wisconsin.,

The earliest white settlers were English., The first fami-
ily to arrivein the county was the Brower PFamily. They located

north of Fox Lake in March, 1838. The History of Dodge County

before 1880 lists Luther Cole, John Cole and Amasa Hyland as the

first settlers, taking up land for a short time in Emmet. As .
with most legends, these claims are questionable., 1In March 1839
a Seymour Wilcox, John Ackerman and Hiram Walk located south of
Waupun.?2 |

Soon communities popped up everywhere. Beaver Dam, Oak
Grove and Hustisford began in 1841, Columbus, on the county
line between Columbia and Dodge Counties, raised its first cab-
in in 1840. Lowell started in 1842, 1844 saw John Gibson set-
tle Gibson Corners, and Grove Prairie Corners., In 1845 Dodge
County bore three better known metropolises- Horicon, Mayville
and Reeseville.J As the various names reveal, Englishmen start-
ed the cities, towns and villages that now make up Dodge Younty.

They immigrated to the wilderness for different reasons.

1. Centennial Bulletin on Dodge County: Walter Bussewiltz, p.l13

2. History of Dodge County (1880): C. W, Butterfiel@

3. Centennial Bulletin on Dodge County: Walter Bussewitz




The English followed the moving frontier looking for choice
farmland. These Yankee Farmers came from Greem Bay, where the
Government Land Office was located, after they had selected
cholce territoty. Most just came with the flow to this new land
after bending around bake Michigan.

The Germans.followed them immediately. They had other rea-
sons for coming. They came because of religious persecution,

a bad harvest in 1846, the uncertain political scene, the favor-
able reports of America, the urge to seek out new horizons.

Some came to get away from it all, others because America was
the 'in' place to go.

Scandinavians, Irish, Welsh, Polish and hollanders all
appeared and lived in the county. A variety of entangled dom-
estic problems brought about their departure from the old coun-
try. The natural beauty may have led these and other to Dodge
County. "Game fish were very plentiful in the day of the early
settlers, Shortly after the dam was built in Horicon, people
scooped up the fish in bushel basketss Deer and bear were plen-
tiful and a good hunter had no trouble in shooting three or four
deer‘in a day."4 Easy access to an old problem, the lack of food,
brought settlers in.,

Germans made up the greatest percentage of newcomers,
"Possibly 25,000 Germans settled here before 1860."5 The path’

from Germany to the Midwest passed right throught the eastern

L, Ibid., p.15

5. Ibid., p.ib



United States. "They (the Germans) were the leading edge of a
wave of immigrants wno would create and shape the great Mid-
western cities of 3t. Louis, Chicago, and Milwaukee,"6 1In Wis-
consin, Southport, Manitowac, Sheboygan and Port wahington all
swelled with incoming Germqns, but the most popular spot to get
off the boat was Milwaukee. Tracing the path to Dodge County in
the 40's and 50's grows even more detailed. "Of the Protestants
the Lutheran Pommern and Brandenburger came in great numbers in
1840 and 1843; ther went on .from Milwaukee to Watertown and
settled Dodge County°”7 They quickly outnumbered the other nat-
ionalities in the oountyov The area around Lowell was no 4iff-
erent., "In 1890 it was estimated that the county was 65% German
descent."8

Along with their belongings, many, not all brought their
religion. For the English, thatmeant Methodism. The followers
of Wesley claim the first church structure in Dodge County.
"the first church building in the county was a frame‘one erect-
ed by the Beaver Dam Methodists in 1847."9 That the Methodists
built the first building in Dodge County may suprisé some be= T
cause the county is so Lutheran and Catholic., The Lutherans and
Catholics were not far behind and soon the Lutherans would boast
a handful of congregations.

The migration of Germans to Wisconsin led to the well-

6. elutherans in America: E, Clifford Nelson, p.125

7. History of the Wisconsin Syned: J. P. Koehler, p.38

8. Centennial Bulletin on Podge County: Walter Bussewitz, p.l4

9. Ibid.,



documented founding of the 'German Evangelical Lutheran Mini-
sterium of Wisconsin., Organized in Milwaukee, the synod natur-
ally soread north along the Lake, east to Watertown, as well as
to the northwest where the good farming land was. "At first the
founding of congregations prooeeded northward in the direction
of Fond du Lac and Port Washington, along the latter line as far
as ManitoWac; westward to Watertown, southward along the lake to
Kenosha,"10

Among the immigrants, few clergy kept uv with the shifting
frontier. Many Lutherans lived shepherdless.  The small Wis-
consin Synod recognized the problem early. #lready at the third
synod convention in 1851, the men took action. "The synodical
meeting realized the need of a traveling missianary, but since
such an appointment was not yet feasible, the pastors were urged
tb cover as much territory in their vicinity as possible,"1l
The fields were white for harvest, the laborers were lacking.
With 1ittle official clergy, intruders and fakes led many of the
congregations that did form astray. The synod itself was in the
ditch for a while on the straight and narrow road of confession-
al Lutheranism.

By the mid 1850's, various circuit riders served the German
Lutheran congregations that had formed in Dodge County. Not all
congregations and not all preachers held to the same ground of
Lutheranism. The '01d' Lutherans dadn't care for the soft- ped-
aling that Muehlhauser and the fiedgling Wisconsin Synod were

10. History of the Wisconsin Synod: J. P, Koehler, p.42

11, Ibid.,



notorious for. The progressive leaders of the Wisconsin Synod
didn't care for the stiffness of the 'old' Lutherans either.

One of the first Lutheran circuit riders in Dodge County
was the colorful founder of St. Mark's in Watertown, Rev., Chris-
" tian Sans. He arrived in Watertown in the summer of

1854, by October he founded a congregation. The
centennial history of St. Mark's stateé, "Sans was

also active in mission work gathering the German

immigrants into congregations, preaching in various
P“hrChﬁ““Smﬁ schoolhouses around Watertown, traveling even as

far as Columbus to found congregations."12 I was not able to
locate other congregations he founded.

In all likelihood Pastor Sans did work in Lowell. He may
have passed through the village on his way to the Columbus
preaching station. The trip to Columbus from Watertowm has two
different routes. The nqrthern route, what is now Highway 16,
was an indian trail. "He (Amasa Hyland) plowed a furrow from
Beaver Dam to Watertown in 1844, following and Indian trail,
making the first road in the county."13 Sans, when exiting
Watertown, may have taken the left turn off that road, Jjust
north of Clyman, and gone right through the village of Lowell.
The other route would have been an extension of the coming "Wat-
ertown Plank Road, present day Highway 19, from Watertown to
Waterloo., What is now Highway 89 would have carried him from

Waterloo to Columbus. He certainly didn't take the railroad.

12. A Century in Christ: St. Mark's Ev, Luth. Church, p.13

13. Centennial Bulletin on Yodge County: Walter Bussewitz, p.11
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It hadn't come that far yet. "The first train actually arrived
(in Watertown) in 1855, busiﬁess boomed, and rosy dreams filled
the imagination of the people,"lh

Evidence does exist that 3ans did work in the town of Low-
ell, Here is the "Oid’Lutheran side of the famous race to
Reeseville. "opportunities existed in great number in neigh-
boring communities for him (the pastor of St. John's in Water-
town) to gather together the ever increasing numbérs of German
immigrants into congregations. This was particularly true in
the neighborhood of Reeseville, town of Lowell, where there was
a community made up largely of immigrants of Bavarian descent.
Clergymen of various persuasions attempted to form a congrega-
tion in this area. One of the most successful was a non-con-
fessional pastor from Watertown, the Rev. C, Sans, who regular-
ly held services on Sunday afternoon in a public school in this
community. The Lutherans of the community, however, felt dis-
satisfied with his avoidance of any clear-cut statement on the
Bible doctrine, and ask="* Yastor Wagner to serve them. In order
to be absolutely neutral, the Board of the School District de-
cided that the pastor who arrived first could conduct the ser-
vices in the public school on that day, Naturally, the trips
to Town Lowell frequently amounted to a race. The pastor would
drive or ride horsebnck to Mud Lake, where he would be met by
one of the members in a row-boat. It frequently happened, of
course, that FPastor Wagner would arrive 1éter than Pastor Sans.
Then the Lutherans would leave the school house and go to the

home of one of the neighbors., Several pleces of fire-wood would
14, Watertown Remebered: Elmer C, Kiessling, b.147
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be taken into the kitchen, planks laid across them, and the im-
provised church was ready. Toward the end of his ministry at
Watertown, Pastor Wagner was instrumental in forming this nu-
cleus into a congregation. It was in 1858 that Trinity Yhurch
of Town Lowell was organized. It was served by the Pastors of
S5t., John's church. "1 vTrinity- town Lowell serves the area
south of Reeseville as a staunchly conservative Lutheran church.
The congregation belongs to the Missouri Synod. This author's
great grandparents and great- great grandparents are buried in
its cemetery. Pastor Sans, rejected by these good Lutherans,
may have had hearers a few miles north in the Town of Lowell.

Another known Lutheran missionary in the vicinity of Lowell
was the Wisconsin Synod's fitst official Reiseprediger, Gottlieb
Fachtmann. Arriving in the badger state in the summer of 1857,
he received his assignment to congregations in Richfield and Town
Polk. "That same fall he was authorized, with the permissién of
his congregation, to undertake a mission journey. Evidently,
his natural bent was in that direction: a love of nature and of
travel, the ability to mix with strangers and to size up men and
conditions, and in this special sphere the urge to spread the
Gospel."16

Fachtmann's first journey led him to the FoX Valley.. Here,
two pastors of the Northwest Conference, had investigated the
area a year earlier, Fachtmann's work proved successful. The

density of Wisconsin Synod congregations in the valley reflects

15. Through a Century with Christ: St. John's Evan. Luth. Church

.12 .
16. History of the Wisconsin Synod: J. P. Koehler, p.53




his work. "Facutmann oroved to be an able, sober-minded man,
alert to the church situatioﬁ in the strange land, and he put
his.observations on record in many carefullu composed reports
to the president of the 3ynod."17 Unfortunately, those care-
fully composed reports are probably lost.

The next year finds Fachtmann in Dodge County. "Early in
1858 he came to Horicon, Beaver Dam, and Columbus, a large ter-
ritory without preachers, settled by Bayern, Pommern, Mecklen-
burger, and Brandenburger in great numbers and among them many
firm Lutherans."18 The synod proceedings from the same year
tell the story. "Pastor Fachtmann gave an oral report of a
mission trip undertaken by himself, from which he proved, that
he found in and around Horicon, Beaver Dam and Mayville, etc.,
a great number of neglected members of the Lutheran church,
which were willing to allow themselves to be served temporarily
or permanently, by 5ur synod. Pastor Fachtmann asked to devote
nimself to this area for a few Sundays. In relation to Beaver
Dam and the surrounding area, New Leipzig, Waupun, etc., Pastor
Zeim would still complete this report through a confirmed comm-
unication."19 Two interesting notes here. Fachtmann worked in
Waupun. He likely broke ground or at least carried on work as
as the first prison chaplain. The state located its prison in

Waupun in 1851. He also carried on work at New Leipzig. A look

17. 1Ibid.,
18, Ibid.,

19, Wisconsin Synod Proceedings (1858) p.10



at the map shows that Leipsig, as it known today, is only about
five miles north of Lowell. Highway G, conanecting the two burgs
runs along the Deaver Dam River., Travelers probably followed
the dirt track along the river from Beaver Dam through Lelpsig
to Lowell. Pastor Fachtmanp could have easily Jjourneyed the

few miles south to conduct services in Lowell. At one time,
Leivnsig numbered 150 people. Now the city is only a country
bar. The only church at Leipsig, to my knowledge, was a Pres-
byterian church that closed in the 1940's.

Pastor Fachtmann produced fruit from his Dodge County jour-
neys. The Missouri Smncd churches in Mayville and Horicon claim
him as the founding pastor. He sowed the seeds for churches in
Waupun, Hustisford, around Golumbus, and Beaver Dam- his so-
called headquarters,

No conclusive facts support Fachtmann's ever preaching the
Word in the village of Lowell., The closest we come to any evi-
dence is the 1858 Synod convention. Concerning it Koehlef says
"Of the fields, that he visited and called Synod's attention to
the territory between Columbus and Watertown, twenty miles east,
and Beaver Dam, twenty miles north, is noted."20 Where that is
noted, we will never know. The center of that triangle lies
directly in the Lowell township of Lowell, just south of the
village.

The synod endorsed Fachtmann's escapades in 13858, but in

fall of the same year he received awmtl accepted a call to St.

Peter's,vFond du Lac,another congregation he helped form. He

20. History of the Wisconsin Synod: J. P. Koehler, p.53




still did mission work until July of 1858. At that time a Luth-
eran congregation in La Crosse called him to serve as
their permanent pastor., He took this call and no
longer worked in Dodge County, but attempted to ce-

ment relations between the Minnesota and Wisconsin

Synods by working up the Missigsippi Biver. He grad-
ually faded outvof the Wisconsin Synod & eventually met a sad
fate, "In the end, Fachtmann was to be disowned by‘the body and
stigmatized in a way that 1s not warranted by the records it has
left. The 1871 Minnesota synodical report tells ahout Fachtmann's
expulsion and denounces nhim as a unionist, a liar, and as one
who misused his office as traveling missionary to attempt the
founding of another synod. Fachtmann's record as a unionist has
hecome familiar to us, but it seems strange to a real student of
history that the historical work, from which som& of our data
have been gained, omits to offer the proof for the other two
charges, and offers no information as to the further history of
the man who, after all, had done yeoman's service in the Wiscon-
sin and Minnesota Synod's."21l

For two years the synod went without an 'official' Reise-
prediger. That situation change in 1861. "In the fall of 1861
Moldehhke, designated by the German socleties for the position
of traVveling missionary, reached Wisconsin with his wife and
child."22 Muehlhauser appointed Fachtmann as traveling miss-
ionary. The synod endorsed his work, seeing the fruit. The
replacement to Fachtmann, Moldehnke, thaught he had another
21. Ibid., p.128
22, Ibid., p.78

Y
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uthority. "Moldehnke... LEE under the impression that he must
govern himself by the wishes of the German societies, even in
outward matters,"<3 That -question as to supervision would Later
create strife,

In the Columbus convention of 1862, the synod agreed on
Moldehnke's work. "At the 1862 Columbus synod Bading reported in
regard to lMoldehnke: 'Since he already had received the ordina-
tion of the church in the old country, he could at once enter in-
to the work here, As headquarters for his mission journeys he
first chose Watertown, then Germany near Fort Atkinson, where he
now lives. His first detailed travel report was circulated by
me in Synod, another is now at hand. On his experiences, de-
sires, plans and the like, he may, being present himself, report
to the honorable synod at the proper time.' The synodical re-
port then makes no further menticn of the matter., WBut the. two. .
extant and quite extensive manuscript reports E
of Moldehnke's afford the opportunity to strike j
a comparison with the reports of Fachtmann on g
partly the same territory and indicate the new %
drift that the deliberations in these matters ‘

were taking."24 I did not locate those two ex-

tant and extensi scripts.
n xtensive manuscript ! REV. E. MOLDEHNKE

i

Moldehnke may have done work in 1861. He certianly did

work in 1862 before the convention. There is no naming of cities

23. 1Ibid.,

24, Ipbid., . - L
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in the 1862 report. Perhaps some of the cities listed in the
next convention were 3nme of those places visited. The trav-
eling preacher's report at the 1853 convention goes like this:
"The institution of the circuit rider in the last synod year
has proved beneficial with aﬁhigh degree of success, The fol-
lowing stations were served by the circuit preacher: Germany,
Fort Atkinson, Whitewater, Waupun (city and prison), Almond,
Stevens ﬁoint, Wausau, Town of Stettin, Town of Berlin, Green
Bay, Kewaunee, Town of Carlton, Forrestville, Sandybay, Ahnapee,
Portage City, Lewiston, Caledonia and the vacant synod congrega-
tions Theresa, Lomira, Fond du Lac, Forrest and Eldorado. Most
of these stations can be permanently occupied by us in the course
of this year, pending still another wait for a preacher, but all
the same,Atheir service is through the circuit rider now and
then,"25

Another itinerary of lMoldehnke's journeying is given by
Koehler. "Proceeding from Germany,-Moidehnke journeyed via Wau-
pun, Berlin, Almond, and Stevens Point as far as Wausau. On the
return trip, the Wisconsin missionary, after a side trip to Kil-
bourn City, returned to Fort Atkinson. On his second journey he
made Lake Millé, New Ville (Waterloo), Kilbourn City; thence he
swung back over Portage, Lewiston, Jefferson, Whitéwater, Golden
Lake, and Helenville. And now he bought himself a horse and ve-
hicle and made another round trip, over Watertown and Beaver

Dam. At the latter place he scored a victory for Synod over Al-

25. Wisconsin Synod Proceedings (1863) p.1b4

£
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brechtsbrueder and Presbyterians in acquiring the field."26 His
victory ia the field could explain the later closing of the
Presbyterian church outside of Leipsig, referred to in the sec-
tion about Pastor PFachtmann.

Obviously, Moldehnke moved around. Nothing states that he
stopped and visited the village of Lowell. Yet Lowell, not far
from the second largest city in the state,‘Watertown, may have
heard him preach the Gospel in 1861718633 If a verson wished tg
they could read between the lines of the last report and claim
Moldehnke really did work just north of the village, later caus-
ing the Presbyterian church to close., Many Lutherans still do
live around Yeipsig.

Another indication Moldehnke worked in or at least close to
Lowell is the 1856 convention report. The Absence of Preachers
section gives this little highlight, "The congregations in and
around Columbus, as far as their continuing vacancies, are serv-
ed by Professor Moldehnke,"26 The small village of Lowell, only
an 8 mile trip from Columbus, would start a Lutheran church in
3 yeérs, served by the pastor at Columbus. The vacancy pastor,
Moldehnke, most certainly conducted services sometime before the
actual founding.

Also at the 1866 counvention, the traveling preacher/professor
resigned his call for various reasons. When he departed, so did
the synod's official traveling preacher inétitutiona "The work

of the Synod's first traveling missionaries in the 60's, Facht-

26. Wisconsin Synod Proceedings (1866) p.6
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mann and Holdehnke, has been accounted for, when the latter

left a-ed oynod to such an

the rapnroachment with Higsouri en

Cg

y

extent yhat the traveliaz misslonary matber receded inno the

[

background; ... Moldehnke w=s n:t given a successor."27 Th
synod allowed the office of traveling preacher to die. Yet
much mission work was still carried on. The typical parish
pastor was himself a travelinr missionary, serving the scatter-
ed groups of German Lutherans around his area,

In this scenario, 3alem “utheran Church in bowell began,
Traveling nreachers served the coagregations needs as best they
could, bringing the Gospel iantermittently to Christians. Lowell
had another advantage for spiritual growth refereged to earlier.
The closeness of Lowell to Watertown led the country folk to
send their children to Northwestern. "From round about Water-
town, as far as Hustisford, Juneau, Waterloo, Lowell, Johnsons
Creek, Farmington Helenville, Ixonia, that 1s to say, within a
radius of fifteen miles, the young sons of the soil came, some
of them already bearded, to prepare, as they expressed it, "for
the higher professions.""28 The last town of those listed to
form a Wisconsin Synod congregation was Lowell. One hopes the
early nrofessors at Northwestern not only increased the worldly
knowledge of their students, but also worked or strengthened
faith,

Some of the students of fathers of the students at Horth-

wesbern may have been anong those to organize. "It was in the

27. History of the Wisconsin Synod: J. P. Koehler, p.19L

28, Ibid., ».123
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year 18:7 when the followinz seven persoas: Fredrick Schoen-
wetter, vhristian Meokelburg; Johh Heckelburg, Christian Hueb-
ner, Jcohn Huebner, ¥arl Jrucks and Fredrick Bussewitz organiz-
ed Salem Lvanrelical Lutheran Church here at Lowell, Wisconsin,
and purchased pronperty where the church still st=nds."29 These
men purcnased a church structure vacated by a baptist denomina-
tion some years before. Fredrick Schoenwetter is the only one

of these 7 who was listed in the History of Hodge County before

1880. He was the village Postmaster,

"The congregation was first served by a Pastor Oppen, who
was pastor of the congresation at Columbus at that time.(Zion)
During the year 1871 and part of 1872 the congregation was serv-
ed by Pastor Philip “prengling, who had a pastorate in Feaver
Dam.(First Lutheran) In the year 1872 the congregatioh called
its first resident pastor in the person of Pastor Philip Lange,
who accepted the call and served the congregation for six years.
With the coming of Philip Lange as Salem Lowell's first resi-
dent pastor, an era ended. For perhaps the last 20 years Ger-
mén Lutherans had God's Word preached to them on an irregular
basis. Since 1872, The Lord has blessed Salem by always pro-
viding men to f1ll its vulpit, not intermittently, as with the

circuit riders, but regularly.

29. One Hundred Years of Grace: Salem Lvan. Luth. Church

30. Ibid.,
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